Extended Notifications for SAP Business Workflow



Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Overview
Quick overview of the Notification Process
Customizing at a glance3
Runtime (Report SWN_SELSEN) at a glance4
Chapter2: Customizing in Detail5
Required Customizing5
1. Scenario5
2. Category
3. Filter Pair7
4. Selection Schedules9
5. Delivery Schedule
6. Subscription11
Advanced Customizing13
Transaction SWNADMIN
Chapter 3: Additional Runtime Details
1. SWN_SELSEN
2. Technical Aspects
3. RSWNNOTIFDEL
4. General Information – Substitiution, Duet & Alloy and the Application Log



Chapter 1: Overview

Extended Notifications for SAP Business Workflow is implemented as a server notification framework. The processing is divided into 2 phases:

- 1. Selection of work items and creation of notifications
- 2. Delivery of the notifications via e-mail or SMS

Extended Notifications for SAP Business Workflow is intended to inform users about work items that need to be processed. Work items to be processed are dialog work items and deadline items. The users are notified in the form of messages. A message can be an e-mail (HTML or plain text) or SMS.

In principle it's the same usage as notification program RSWUWFML2 but Extended Notifications provides more functionality and flexibility as they are a notification framework, which is based on ABAP classes (handler). These handlers can be replaced by custom code.

Quick overview of the Notification Process

The notification process via Extended Notifications for SAP Business Workflow comprises of two phases:

- Selection: The relevant work items are selected and notifications are created and stored in database table SWN_NOTIF.
- **Delivery**: The notifications are selected from SWN_NOTIF and messages are created and sent to the users.

This initially requires customizing via transaction SWNCONFIG (or SWNADMIN). Afterwards program SWN_SELSEN has to be scheduled periodically. Program SWN_SELSEN processes both the selection and the delivery.

Customizing at a glance

Selection

- For the selection a filter pair has to be defined. A filter pair consists of a so called FULL filter and a DELTA filter. One of the filters is marked as main filter (Usually it's the FULL filter). The filter pair is used to identify the relevant work items and so single-step tasks can be maintained at the filter pair.
- In addition a category has to be assigned to the filter pair. A possible category could be e.g. Leave Request or Shopping Cart Approval. The notifications, which are created during the selection phase are assigned to this category. The category is important for the delivery later on.
- Each filter of the filter pair requires a selection schedule. The selection schedule contains the information when (weekdays, time and interval) the filter has to be processed.



Delivery

- For the delivery a subscription has to be defined. The subscription defines who should be notified about which work items and how the messages will look. The subscription must be assigned to a category (see above). By doing so, the relevant work items for the delivery are chosen. In addition the recipient(s), the delivery type (e-mail, sms) and the message structure are configured.
- The subscription requires a delivery schedule. The delivery schedule contains the information when (weekdays, time and interval) the subscription has to be processed. This means when the messages should be delivered.

Runtime (Report SWN_SELSEN) at a glance

The program SWN_SELSEN must be scheduled periodically. SWN_SELSEN is responsible for the whole notification process. At first it processes the selections and afterwards the delivery.

Selection

- The program reads the available selection schedules and analyses which of them are due.
- The following procedure is done for each due selection schedule:
 - The assigned filter is retrieved.
 - On the basis of its assigned tasks, the relevant work items are selected. This means the work items, which were created or changed since last processing of the filter pair are selected.
 - The agents of these work items are determined. One notification per work item and agent is created and stored in database table SWN_NOTIF.
 - In addition obsolete notifications are marked as logically deleted in SWN_NOTIF. A notification becomes obsolete, when the work item is not available anymore in the inbox of its recipient. E.g. Due to work item execution or forwarding to another user.

Delivery

- The program reads the available delivery schedules and analyses which of them are due.
- The following procedure is done for each due delivery schedule:
 - The assigned subscription is retrieved.
 - Based on its assigned category and recipient the relevant notifications from SWN_NOTIF are selected.
 - The message content is created by using a BSP application (Business Server Page).
 The settings of the subscription are taken into account for that.
 - The messages are sent to the recipients. The message is marked a 'Delivered' in SWN_NOTIF.



Chapter2: Customizing in Detail

The customizing can be done either via SWNCONFIG or SWNADMIN.

It is based on several database tables. Transaction SWNCONFIG is a view cluster which contains the maintenance views for most of these customizing tables. Due to this, SWNCONFIG is rather complex but offers all possible customizing options.

Due to the complexity of the customizing tables and of SWNCONFIG, a simplified customizing transaction was provided. The transaction SWNADMIN was created, which is a Business Server Page application (BSP). SWNADMIN does not provide all the possible customizing options, but it hides the complexity by generating customizing entries.

HINT: When first trying to configure Extended Notifications please try via transaction SWNADMIN (See page 16) and then check the corresponding customizing in SWNCONFIG.

IMPORTANT: SWNADMIN: No transport link/connection

SWNADMIN has one important disadvantage: It does not support the transportation of the customizing so it is only suitable for local configuration in a system. But if the customizing should be transported into other systems, the transport request would have to be created manually via SWNCONFIG.

Required Customizing

The following sections show the required customizing via transaction SWNCONFIG.

1. Scenario

Select scenario WORKFLOW (Business Workflow). The scenario WORKFLOW is intended for the Extended Notifications for Business Workflow. This means for notifying the users about work items via e-mail or SMS.

• • 4		ኛነ የኒ ሲኒ ኛጋ 🐹 🔽 😗 📑		
Change View "Busin	ess Scenario": Over	view		
🤊 🕄 New Entries 🗈 🔂	🔊 🛃 🖪 BC Set: Field Val	ue Origin 🔄 🚍 📾		
Dialog Structure	Business Scenario			
Business Scenario	Scenario	Standard Category	Handler	
 Category 	bsp	OSP STANDARD	CL_SWN_SCENARIO_WORKFLOW	*
• 🗀 Assigned Message	UWL	UWL_STANDARD	CL_SWN_SCENARIO_WORKFLOW	-
 Subscription Basic 	WORKFLOW	STANDARD	CL_SWN_SCENARIO_WORKFLOW	
Subscription Se Filter Basic Data				
Filter Basic Data Filter settings				
Checkerkele Calendar				
Delivery Sched	er contents			
General Setting				
Handler Assignment				
C Message Template				
Delivery Type				
Deliverer				



Important. Scenario UWL and OSP

The scenario UWL is reserved for the delta pull mechanism of the UWL. OSP is reserved for the delta mechanism of DUET and Alloy. Due to this these scenarios must not be used for the Extended Notifications for Business Workflow. This may lead to inconsistencies within the UWL, DUET or Alloy.

2. Category

Create a new category. The easiest way is to copy category STANDARD, which is delivered by SAP. In this case you can also copy also the assigned message templates. Otherwise they have to be created and assigned manually.

The category is used during the selection and delivery phases. During the selection phase, the work items are selected and notifications are created and stored in SWN_NOTIF. The notifications are assigned to the category of the filter which is processed. The notifications are grouped via the category and the subscription is also assigned to the category. The category tells which group of notifications should be delivered.

Create Category





Also copy Message Templates

Change View	/ "Assigned	Message Templat	es": Overview	N	
12 12	Ū				
cenario	WORKFLOW				
ategory	ZLEAVE R				
A					
Assigned Message	remplates	Granularity	Namespace	Message Template	
EMAIL_HTML	-0	One Message Per I		WORKFLOW1	
					*
			1		
				ce has to be changed into a 'Z'	-
				r all Assigned Message Templates	-
			(this can be u	p to 9).	
-					
-					
-					
					*
				★ ▶	4 🕨

3. Filter Pair

The filter pair defines which work items have to be selected. It consists of a so called FULL filter and a DELTA filter.

When a filter is processed the relevant work items are selected. The processing of the FULL filter is different than the processing of the DELTA filter.

FULL filter

- Selects all open work items (based on filter criteria). The database selection is done via SWWWIHEAD and is independent from any time stamp.
- The agents of these work items, including substitutes, are determined.
- A notification for each work item and agent is created.
- New notifications are inserted.
- Existing notifications which have become obsolete are logically deleted (e.g. work item is not open anymore, work item does not exist anymore, work item was forwarded to another user, etc.)



DELTA filter

- Selects all work items, which were created or changed since last run of the filter pair. The data selection is done via SWWWIHEAD and SWWLOGHIST. The selection includes open and completed work items.
- The agents of the open work items, including substitutes are determined.
- A notification for each work item and agent is created.
- New notifications are inserted.
- Existing notifications which became obsolete are logically deleted.
- Existing notifications are modified in case of special work item changes. But this case is only relevant for the UWL and DUET!

Steps

1. Create a FULL filter and a DELTA filter.

2. Assign both filters to the newly created category (-> in this example it is ZLEAVE REQUEST). This means that the notifications are assigned to this category during selection phase.

3. Connect them, so that they can interact as a pair. To do so go to the DELTA filter and assign the FULL filter as main filter. (-> in the screenshot below the filter ZLEAVEREQUEST_FIL_FULL is entered into field 'Main Filter')

Full Filter

Delta Filter

			_			
Table View Edit Goto	Selection Utilities(M) Sy	stem <u>H</u> elp		🖙 Table View Edit Goto 🖇	Selection Utilities(M) Sy	zstem <u>H</u> elp
• • 4	🖳 I 😋 🥹 🚭 I 🖨 M K	2 2 4 2 3 🛛 🕅		•	🗏 I 😋 😧 😫 I 🗎 M II	l 18 19 18 18 1 🗑 🖉 I 🖗 🖪
New Entries: Details	of Added Entries			New Entries: Details	of Added Entries	
🎾 🖬 🗟 🗟 📓 📾	_			7 . 9 9 5 8		
Dialog Structure	Scenario Filter Filter Basic Data Description Main Filter	WORKFLOW ZLEAVEREOUEST_FIL_FULL Leave Request Full Filter Delete Old Notifications		Dialog Structure	Scenario Filter Filter Basic Data Description Main Filter	WORKFLOW ZLEAVEREOUEST_FIL_DELTA Leave Request Delta Filter Delate.Old Motifications ZLEAVEREOUEST_FIL_FULL
Cochedule Selection Delivery Schedule General Settings DHandler Assignment DMessage Template Delivery Type Deliverer	Category Last Changed By Date Time	ZLEAVE REQUEST		Carlo Schedule Selection Delivery Schedule General Settings Handler Assignment Message Template Delivery Type Delivery	Category Last Changed By Date Time	[ZLEAVE REQUEST]

4. The delta filter has to be marked so that it works as DELTA filter. This is done in the filter settings. Set value DELTA = 'X'.





5. Maintain the relevant single-step tasks at both filters. The values must be the same for both filters. If no single-step task is entered, the work item selection is done without considering the task as filter criteria. (Info: The filter criteria WORKFLOW_STEP was introduced for DUET and is usually not used for the Extended Notifications -> e-mail).

C <u>T</u> able V	iew <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oto	Selection Utilities(M) S	ystem <u>H</u> elp		로 <u>T</u> able View <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oto	Selection Utilities(M)	System <u>H</u> elp	
0	• 4	🗏 I 😋 🚱 🚷 I 🗅 M I	8 8 9 6 8 📰	z 📀 🎚	Ø - 4	🗏 I 😋 🚱 🌚 I 🖨 🕅	18 2 2 4 4 5	I 🛛 I 😗 🖪
Chang	je View "Filter	settings": Overvi	ew		Change View "Filter	settings": Overv	iew	
ا 🔊 🎸	lew Entries 🛛 🔒 🖬	🔊 🛃 📕 🗟 BC Set: Field	l Value Origin 🛛 🗟 📟		💖 🕄 New Entries 🐚 🔂 🛛	🔊 🔜 🖪 🗟 BC Set: Fie	eld Value Origin 🔢 😅 📟	i
• 🖸 • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	ucture iness Scenario Category Category Subscription Basic Subscription Basic Subscription See If Itter settings defue Selection very Schedule real Settings	Scenario Filter Parameter DELTA TASK WORKFLOW_STEP	WORKFLOW ZLEAVEREQUEST_FIL Index 0 0 0	_FULL Value 	Dialog Structure • Dusiness Scenario • Caregoy • Subscription Basic • Subscription Basic • Subscription Basic • Filter Basic Data • Schedule Selection • Schedule Selection • Operate Settings	Filter settings	WORKFLOW ZLEAVEREQUEST_F Inc 0 0 0	TL_DELTA
• 🗀 Me: • 🗀 Del	dler Assignment sage Template very Type Deliverer				Handler Assignment Message Template Delivery Type Deliverer			

Important!

The category of the FULL filter must be the same as of the DELTA filter. The categories of the filter must not differ. If no category is assigned to the filters, then the notifications are assigned to the standard category of the scenario. But it is recommended to maintain the category in the filter itself.

4. Selection Schedules

Create a selection schedule for each filter. The selection schedule defines when (weekdays, time frame and interval) the filter should be processed. (SWN_SELSEN must be scheduled in addition).

Selection schedule for FULL filter:

- Create a new schedule and choose the FULL filter.
- Mark the weekdays.
- The FULL filter should be processed once a day. Therefore enter the desired time into the field 'Time from' as well into 'Time to' and maintain the Time Zone. Do not enter a value into the field 'Interval'.





Selection schedule for DELTA filter:

- Create a new schedule and choose the DELTA filter.
- Mark the weekdays.
- The DELTA filter should be processed more frequently. Maintain the start time ('Time from'), end time ('Time to') and the Time Zone. Enter the interval in minutes.



IMPORTANT: Both filters are required

The DELTA filter selects work items, which were changed (SWWLOGHIST) or created (SWWWIHEAD) since last run. Actions and changes on a work item are stored in SWWLOGHIST. But changes in the Organizational Management, which affect the agent assignment or changes related to the substitution rules are not available in SWWLOGHIST. This means that the DELTA filter recognizes such changes only for work items, which were changed since last run. But the FULL filter recognizes these changes for all open work items, as it selects the work items without using a time stamp. Due to this the FULL filter must be scheduled at least once a day.

5. Delivery Schedule

Create a delivery schedule. The delivery schedule tells when the e-mails should be sent out. The delivery schedule is later on assigned to the subscription.

A delivery schedule can be assigned to more than one subscription.



Delivery Schedule

🖙 <u>T</u> able View <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oto S	Selection Utilities(M) Sys	stem <u>H</u> elp
•	😑 I 😋 😧 😫 I 🗎 M M	\$2 19 43 \$2 🕱 🗩 🔗 🖪
New Entries: Details	of Added Entries	
19 🖬 😫 🔡 😂 📾		
Dialog Structure	Delivery Schedule	ZLEAVEREQUEST_DEL_SCHED
▼ □ Business Scopario		
Category Dialog Structu	elivery Schedule	
• 🗋 Assigned measage	Description	Leave Request Delivery Schedule
 Subscription Basic 		✓Mon ✓Tue ✓Wed ✓Thu ✓Fri Sat Sun
Subscription Se	Weekdays	
 Filter Basic Data 	Time From	07:00:00
Filter settings	Time To	18:00:00
Schedule Selection	Time Zone	CET
Cal Delivery Schedule General Settings	Interval (Minutes)	30
Handler Assignment		
Message Template	Last Changed By	MORRISE
 Delivery Type 	Date	23.08.2011
Deliverer	Time	19:35:41
	Time	19.35.41

6. Subscription

The subscription is required for the delivery phase. E-mails are only delivered if a subscription is available.

It contains the following information:

- Which notifications should be delivered -> Category.
- When they should be delivered -> Delivery schedule.
- How the e-mail/SMS should look like.

Steps

1. Choose the newly created category. (The notifications created during selection phase were assigned to the category. By using the same category in the subscription the notifications, which should be sent out, are chosen.)

- 2. Create a new subscription.
- 3. Assign the delivery schedule.
- 4. Choose the delivery type e.g.

E_MAIL_HTML -> HTML mail

E_MAIL_PLAIN -> plain text mail

SMS

5. Choose the granularity (N -> One e-mail contains a list of work items; 1 -> For each work item one e-mail is sent; C -> Only a general information "you have new work items" is sent out, which does not contain work item-specific data)

6. Define the recipients (fields Recipient address, Recipient type and Handler):



There are several possibilities:

a) The e-mails should be send to all work item agents -> recipient address = * and recipient type = RML

b) The e-mails should be send to one particular user -> recipient address = <user ID> and recipient type = RML

c) The e-mails should be send out to a list of work item agents, but NOT TO ALL -> recipient address = * and recipient type = CUS and handler = ABAP class. For further information see note 847042 (Handler for filtering notifications in the subscription).

7. Maintain the subscription settings



	101000	💥 🚬 I	🖓 🖪		
iption Settings": C	Overview				
📕 🖪 🖪 BC Set: Field V	alue Origin 🛛 🗟	t 📾			
ubscription	ZLEAVEREQUES	T_SUBS			
cenario	WORKFLOW				
ategory	ZLEAVE REQUE	ST			
Public continues					
					1-
			Val.		Parameter
REMINDER_DAYS		0	1		E6089C96
SHOW_ACTION_DECISION	I_AS	0	LINK		F0E903E1
SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY	AS	0	LINK2		AC88A542
SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE	AS	0	LINK2		E11583DC
SHOW_DOCUMENTS_AS		0			64075F5CE
SHOW INBOX AS		0	LINK2		384B02E0
SHOW OBJECTS AS		0			7BD405E1
	B B Cset Field V ubscription cenario ategory Subscription Settings Parameter RENINDER_DAYS SHOW_ACTION_DECISION SHOW_ACTION_DESPLAY SHOW_ADOL/DISPLAY SHOW_IDOL/DISPLAY SHOW_IDOL/DISPLAY SHOW_IDOL/DISPLAY SHOW_IDOL/DISPLAY SHOW_IDOL/DISPLAY	ubscription ZLEAVEREQUES cenario WGRKFLOW ategory ZLEAVE REQUE Subscription Settings Parameter RENINDER_DAYS SHOW_ACTION_DECISION_AS SHOW_ACTION_DECISION_AS SHOW_ACTION_DECISION_AS SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE_AS SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE_AS SHOW_INBOX_AS	BC BC Set: Field Value Origin ZLEAVEREQUEST_SUBS cenario WORKFLOW ategory ZLEAVE REQUEST Subscription Settings Parameter RENINDER_DAYS O SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS O SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS O SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS O SHOW_DOCUMENTS_AS O SHOW_DOCUMENTS_AS O	BC BC Set: Field Value Origin CLEAVEREOUEST_SUBS cenario WORKFLOW degory ZLEAVE REOUEST Subscription Settings Parameter Index Val RENINDER_DAYS 0 INK2 SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS UINK2 SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS UINK2 SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS UINK2 SHOW_DOCUMENTS_AS SHOW_INDOX_AS 0 INKZ	BC Set Field Value Origin ZLEAVEREQUEST_SUBS cenario WORKFLOW ategory ZLEAVE REQUEST Subscription Settings Parameter Index Val ReININDER_DAYS 0 1 SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS UNK2 SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS UNK2 SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE_AS 0 LINK2 SHOW_IDOCUMENTS_AS 0 LINK2

Setting	Values	Description
REMINDER_DAYS	Number of days	SWN_SELSEN sends out another e-mail after x days, if the work item has not been completed/cancelled yet (A due delivery schedule is required nevertheless)
SHOW_ACTION_DECISION_AS	LINK	If the work item is based on a user decision, the decision alternatives are inserted into the e-mail as links, which references BSP application SWN_WIEXECUTE. The work item can be executed directly via these links
	SPACE	The decision alternatives are not generated into the e-mail.
SHOW_ACTION_DISPLAY_AS	LINK1	A link ("Display Work Item") is generated into the e-mail. The transaction SWNWIEX is called via ICF service "WEBGUI"
	LINK2	A link ("Display Work Item") is generated into the e-mail. This link references ICF service "shortcut", which creates and executes a SAP Shortcut on the fly. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SWNWIEX via SAPGUI for Windows.
	ATTACH1	A SAP Shortcut is attached to the e-mail. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SWNWIEX via SAPGUI for Windows. This option only makes sense for granularity "1" (For each work item one e-mail is sent). If granularity "N" is used in the subscription, then SWN_SELSEN ignores the granularity and sends out one e-mail per work item automatically



		(see CL_SWN_DELIVERY_MAN->CREATE_SINGLE_MESSAGE)
SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE_AS	LINK1	A link ("Execute Work Item") is generated into the e-mail. The transaction SWNWIEX is called via ICF service "WEBGUI"
	LINK2	A link ("Execute Work Item") is generated into the e-mail. This link references ICF service "shortcut", which creates and executes a SAP Shortcut on the fly. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SWNWIEX via SAPGUI for Windows.
	ATTACH1	A SAP Shortcut is attached to the e-mail. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SWNWIEX via SAPGUI for Windows. This option only makes sense for granularity "1" (For each work item one e-mail is sent). If granularity "N" is used in the subscription, then SWN_SELSEN ignores the granularity and sends out one e-mail per work item automatically (see CL_SWN_DELIVERY_MAN- >CREATE_SINGLE_MESSAGE)
SHOW_INBOX_AS	LINK1	A link ("Workflow Inbox") is generated into the e-mail. The transaction SO01 is called via ICF service "WEBGUI"
	LINK2	A link ("Workflow Inbox") is generated into the e-mail. This link references ICF service "shortcut", which creates and executes a SAP Shortcut on the fly. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SO01 via SAP Gui for Windows.
	ATTACH1	A SAP Shortcut is attached to the e-mail. This SAP shortcut calls transaction SO01 via SAPGUI for Windows.

Advanced Customizing

1. General Settings

The parameters, which were delivered in the initial development, are documented in the <u>SAP Help</u> <u>Portal</u>

The parameters below were delivered via SAP Notes later on:

Parameter	Note Number	Description
MESSAGE_EXPIRY_DAYS	938541	Expiry days of the SAP Office documents (e- mails)
OPT_DELTA_SELECTION	1526484	Performance improvement for processing the DELTA filters
WI_TASK_LANGUAGE	1230808	Handling of the languages of work item task description
OPT_DELTA_UWL	1459177	Performance improvement for UWL, DUET and Alloy. Not relevant for the Extended Notifications

2. Own BSP Application -> Message template

The e-mail content is generated by using BSP application SWN_MESSAGE1 and customized in SWN_CONFIG in the area "Message Template". If your e-mail should have another look and feel or should contain additional information it is possible to create your own BSP application to generate the e-mail content.



In this case copy the BSP application SWN_MESSAGE1 and adapt the different views. The name of the controller and the views must not be changed. There is one view for each delivery type and granularity.



If required the controller class can be exchanged to have more influence on the e-mail content generation.

🖉 🚽 🖉 🖉 🖉	🚨 2 19 40 40 193 🖪 19 🖪	
Web Application Builder: Disp	lay Controller of SWN_MESSAGE1	
수 수 1 🎾 18 명 1 🖉 🤻 🖷 品 🚊 🗆	8	
MIME Repository	Controller main.do	Active
Repository Browser		
Repository Information System	Description Controller for E-Mail Messages for Work Items	
🗈 Tag Browser	Controller Class CL_SWN_MESSAGE_CONTROLLER	
🖶 Transport Organizer	Start BSP	
Test Repository		
	Error Handling	
BSP-Applikation	Is Error Page	
swn_message1 🗸 😪	Assigned Error Page	
↓ ↓ ♥ ☆ 器 ■ , ③ ■	Status	
Object Name	Unchanged	
 SWN_MESSAGE1 	O Stateless from Now On	
Controller main.do	O Stateliess from Now On	
 main.do Views 	Lifetime Until Page Change	

The BSP application must be maintained in SWNCONFIG:

- 1. Create a new message template
- 2. Assign this message template to your category





∑ <u>T</u> able View <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oto	Selection Utilities(M)	S <u>y</u> stem <u>H</u> elp	
۵ 🔹 🖉	🗏 😋 🥸 🚱 🖨 (M M 20 10 40 40 🛒 🗾 🖗 🖪	
Change View "Assig	ned Message T	emplates": Overview	
🎾 New Entries 🗈 🖬 🖬	L 🖪 🔒 BC Set: Field	d Value Origin 🛛 🗟 🖮	
Dialog Structure	Scenario	WORKFLOW	
 Business Scenario 	Category	ZLEAVE REQUEST	
 Category 			
Assigned Message	Assigned Message T	emplates	
 Subscription Basic Subscription Set 	Delivery Type	Granularity Namespace	Message Template
 Subscription Se Filter Basic Data 	EMAIL HTML	One Message Per N., VZ	ZWORKFLOW1
Gritter settings	EMAIL_HTML	One Message Per C., VZ	ZWORKELOW1
Chedule Selection	EMAIL HTML	One Message Conta • Z	ZWORKEL OW1
 Delivery Schedule 	EMAIL PLAIN	One Message Per N., -Z	ZWORKELOW1
 General Settings 	EMAIL PLAIN	One Message Per C. VZ	ZWORKFLOW1
Handler Assignment			
 Message Template Delivery Type 			-
Delivery Type Deliverer			
La Deiverei			

3. Own Handler Classes

The notification framework is based on handler classes (ABAP classes). The classes are referenced in SWNCONFIG.

At the category e.g. there is the category handler (CL_SWN_CATEGORY), notification handler (CL_SWN_NOTIF_WORKFLOW) and the handler for user (CL_SWN_USER_STD). It is possible to create your own handler classes by inheriting from the standard classes. Afterwards they have to be maintained in SWNCONFIG (in this case at the category).

During runtime these classes are used instead of the standard classes. This allows the implementation of additional requirements.

4. Alternative Visualization for the Work Item Execution (Transaction SWFVISU)

The e-mail can contain a link to start the work item execution (parameter SHOW_ACTION_EXECUTE_AS). The transaction SWNWIEX is called to trigger the execution. The BOR method or the method of the ABAP class of the underlying task is called. In this case the execution is usually based on Dynpros.

More and more SAP applications deliver other applications (e.g. WebDynpro ABAP) for their business objects. If such an application should be called instead of SWNWIEX a customization in SWFVISU is required.

SWFVISU is intended for the work item execution via the UWL. The Extended Notifications also support the customizing of SWFVISU but in a very limited way.

See documentation in SAP Help Portal

The Extended Notifications generates URLs for the following visualization types:

- Business Server Pages
- BSP Blueprint
- Web Dynpro ABAP



• Web Dynpro Java (see class CL_SWN_URL_GENERATOR)

URL Generation: The extended notifications do not evaluate expressions of the UWL, with the exception of \${item.externalId}. This is expression is replaced by the workitem ID. In addition the WorkitemID is added to the URL by using parameter name WI_ID.

Transaction SWNADMIN

SWNADMIN is a transaction, which call the Business Server Page application SWN_CONFIG. It offers a simplified customizing UI. It generates most of the customizing entries.

- Disadvantages of SWNADMIN: It does not support the transportation of the customizing. So it's suitable for local configuration in a system. If the customizing should be transported into other systems the transport request would have to be created manually via SWNCONFIG.
- It supports only the scenario WORKFLOW.
- Not all available customizing options are available in SWNADMIN (e.g. handler classes cannot be maintained, only specific general settings can be maintained, ...)

Customizing via SWNADMIN

The terminology used in SWNADMIN differs from the terminology used in SWNCONFIG. The reason is that many customizing entries (e.g. filter, assigned message templates, ...) are generated in the background. The following sections describe the steps in SWNADMIN and describes which entries are generated in the background.

1. Category

Configuration in SWNADMIN

- Create a category. Enter the name.
- Choose the message priority and Save.

Welcome,			
ategory Selection Subscription General Settings			
Category			
Crente Save Delete			
Name	÷	Description	
STANDARD		Standard Category	
ZDEMO		-8000 / 80000	
ZED_CATEGORY		COMPACT STREET,	
ZLEAVE REQUEST		-Recorded - American	
ZNFNOLANGU		Table del monthe contrate	
🖾 🖹 Page 🔄 1 of 3 🕱 🕱			
Basic Data			
Name *	ZPO_APPROVAL		
Description	Purchase Order Appro	/al	
Notification Priority High		•	
Last Changed By			



Generation in background

- The new category is created and assigned to scenario WORKFLOW. -> The default category of scenario WORKFLOW is copied.
- The message templates are assigned to the new category. -> The message templates, which are assigned to the default category of scenario WORKFLOW are used.

2. Selection

Configuration in SWNADMIN

- Create a selection. Enter the name e.g. ZPO_FILT.
- Assign the newly created category.
- Enter the tasks that should be considered.
- Enter the schedule data. The data of area 'Select All Work Items of Selected Tasks' is used for the FULL filter. The data of area 'Select only new and changed work items of the selected tasks' is used for the DELTA filter.

Assign Category

Enter Task

ription General Settings		
	Category	
	STANDARD	
	STANDARD	
	ZDEMO	
	ZED_CATEGORY	
	STANDARD	
X		
Schedule		
N	ZPO_FILT	
L\$	PO Selection	
	ZPO_APPROVAL Purchase Order Approval	

Welcome, Handle Handle		
tennor Salection General Sett	ings	
Selection		
Create Save Delete		
Name	\$	Category
ALL		STANDARD
TEST		STANDARD
ZDEMO		ZDEMO
ZED_SELECTION		ZED_CATEGOR
ZKS_FULL1		STANDARD
🗉 🗵 Page 🔄 1 of 3 🕱 🛣		
Basic Data Tasks Schedule		
ask Adopt		
Delete		
Tasks		
TS47008269		
X Page 1 of 1 X X		

Enter schedule data

🥧 F	avorites ZZ Administration of the Extended N	letifications for						
	Auministration of the Extended P	vouncations for		_				
We	Icome, Eddie Morris							
Cate	gory Selection Subscription General Settings							
Se	election							
Cre	ate Save Delete							
	Name		÷	Ca	ategory			
	ALL			SI	TANDARD			
	TEST				TANDARD			
	ZDEMO			_	DEMO			
	ZED_SELECTION				ED_CATEGORY			
	ZKS_FULL1			5	ANUARU			
1								
	Basic Data Tasks Schedule							
Sel	ect All Work Items of Selected Tasks							
10	the Following Days	Monday Tuesday	Wedness	day	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	Sunday
Įπ	ne From *	06:00:00						
1.1	ne To	06:00:00						
	erval	0000 Minutes						
۳I	me Zone	Central Europe			•			
Sel	ect only new and changed work items of the se	elected tasks						
10	the Following Days	Monday Tuesday	Wednes	day	Thursday	Friday	Saturday	Sunday
Įπ	me From *	06:00:00						
1.1	ne To	18:00:00						
	erval	0010 Minutes						
1 m	ne Zone	Central Europe			-			



Generation in background

- A filter pair is generated. This means a FULL filter is generated with ID <name>_FULL, e.g. ZPO_FILT_FULL. A DELTA filter is generated with ID <name>_DELTA, e.g. ZPO_FILT_DELTA. Both filter are connected via the field 'Main filter'.
- The category is assigned to both filters.
- Within the filter settings the DELTA setting is set for the DELTA filter.
- The tasks are assigned to both filters.
- For each filter a selection schedule is generated. The IDs are <name>_FULL (e.g. ZPO_FILT_FULL), <name>_DELTA (e.g. ZPO_FILT_DELTA). The filter is assigned to its schedule.

3. Subscription

Configuration in SWNADMIN

- Create a subscription and enter the name.
- Assign the newly created category.
- Tab Message: Define how the message should look.
- Tab Schedule: Create a new schedule or choose an existing schedule.
- Tab Recipient: Define the recipients of the messages. (It's not possible to enter a handler in SWNADMIN.)

🚖 Favorites 🛛 🖅 Administration of the Extended Notificatio	ions for
Welcome, Eddle Morris	
Category Selection Subscription General Settings	
Create Save Delete	
Name	Category
ZNICOLE	ZNICOLE
ZDEMO_SUBS	ZDEMO
ZKS_TEST	STANDARD
ZKS_TEST	ZLEAVE REQUEST
ZTEST_NT_MSG	ZTEST_INT_MSG
🖾 🗷 Page 🔜 1 of 4 🕱 🖾	
Basic Data Message Schedule Recipient	
Name *	ZPO_SUB
Description	PO Subscription
Category	ZPO_APPROVAL Purchase Order Approval
	Deactivated
Last Changed By Last Changed	

Assign Category

Define Message

Administration of the Extended Notifications for		
Welcome, Eddie Morris		
Category Selection Subscription General Settings		
Subscription		
Create Save Delete		
Name	Category	÷
ZNICOLE	ZNICOLE	Т
ZDEMO_SUBS	ZDEMO	Т
ZKS_TEST	STANDARD	Т
ZKS_TEST	ZLEAVE REQUEST	
ZTEST_NT_MSG	ZTEST_INT_MSG	
🖾 🗷 Page 🔜 of 4 🕱 🗷		
Basic Data Message Schedule Recipient		
Delivery Type	HTML-Nachricht 💌	
Message Granularity	One Message Per Category 👻	
Show Work Item Display As	HTTP Link that Starts SAP GUI for HTML	٠
	HTTP Link that Starts SAP GUI for Windows	٠
	HTTP Link that Starts SAP GUI for HTML	•
Show User Decision As	HTTP Link	٠
Reminder After X Days	1	

Category
 ZNICOLE
 ZDEMO
 STANDARD
 ZLEAVE REQUEST
 ZTEST_INT_MSG

Create Schedule

👷 Favorites 🛛 🖅 Administr

Welcome, Eddie Morri Category Selection Su Subscription

Define Recipients

for					🔆 Favorites 🛛 🖅 Administration of the Extended Notifications for
					Welcome, Eddie Morris
40	Category			≑ Rec	Category Selection Subscription General Settings
	ZNICOLE			FES	Subscription
	ZDEMO			FES	 Create Save Delete
	STANDARD			SC	cleate Save Delete
	ZLEAVE REQUEST			SCR	Name
	ZTEST_INT_MSG			•	7000015
					 ZNICOLE
					ZDEMO_SUBS
					ZKS_TEST
					ZKS_TEST
					ZTEST_INT_MSG
e					Rege 1 of 4 ▼ ▼
Tue:	sdav 🔽 Wednesdav	Thursday	Priday Saturd	lay 🗌 Sunday	
1 IVE	suay 🕑 wearesuay	Contraction of the second seco	Privay Saluru	ayounday	Basic Data Message Schedule Recipient
5					Subscription Is Valid for All Users
Minuter	1	_			 O Subscription Is Valid for User
uhue.		•			



Generation in background

- If a new schedule was created, a delivery schedule is created.
- A subscription is generated.
- The category and the schedule are assigned to the subscription.
- The recipient is set with recipient type RML.
- The subscription settings are set.

4. General Settings

Configuration in SWNADMIN

• Maintain the general settings. Be aware that not all settings are available in SWNADMIN.

Welcome, Eddie Morris	
Category Selection Subscription General Settings	
General Settings	
Save	
Label for link to the Workflow inbox	NASWN087
Alternative Link to Workflow Inbox	
Name of SAPLogon Entry for SAP Shortcuts	
Message ID for the subject line of e-mails with granularity 'Per Category'	NASWN070
Message ID for the subject line of e-mails with granularity 'Per Work Item'	NASWN071
Message ID for the subject line of e-mails with granularity 'Multiple Work Items'	NASWN072
Message ID for the subject line of SMS messages with granularity 'Per Category'	NASWN148
Message ID for the subject line of SMS messages with granularity 'Per Work Item'	NASWN148
Text ID for contact administrator	DTSWN_MSG_CONTACT_ADMIN
Text ID for calling the Workflow inbox	DTSWN_MSG_GOTO_INBOX
Text ID for calling the work item	DTSWN_MSG_GOTO_WI
Text ID for calling the Workflow inbox by using a link	DTSWN_MSG_LINK_INBOX
Text ID for request to process a single work item	DTSWN_MSG_PROCESS_INDIV
Text ID for request to process multiple work items	DTSWN_MSG_PROCESS_MULTI
Text ID of introductory text for e-mails with granularity 'Per Category'	DTSWN_PROLOG_INBOX
Text ID of introductory text for e-mails with granularity 'Per Work Item'	DTSWN_PROLOG_INDIV
Text ID of introductory text for e-mails with granularity 'Multiple Work Items'	DTSWN_PROLOG_MULTI
Host Part of URLs that Reference WebDynpro	
Host Part of URLs That Reference SAPGUI for HTML	

Generation in background

• The general settings are set.



Chapter 3: Additional Runtime Details

1. SWN_SELSEN

Program SWN_SELSEN must be scheduled as a batch job to send out e-mails via the Extended Notifications. The frequency should be adjusted to the selection and delivery schedules created via the customizing. Usually SWN_SELSEN is scheduled more frequently to ensure that the selection and delivery schedules can be served.

The notification process via SWN_SELSEN consists of two phases: selection and delivery. For each phase a schedule must be created via the customizing - selection schedule and delivery schedule. The actual processing is done only if the corresponding schedule is due.

If checkbox 'No Time Check During Send' is marked, the program does not check whether the delivery schedules are due. This means all existing delivery schedules are processed and the e-mails are sent out.

⊡ <u>P</u> rogram	<u>E</u> dit <u>G</u> oto S <u>v</u> stem <u>H</u> elp
Ø	▾ ◁ 📙 ♦ ૧૨ 🚱 😫 🖴 🍓 🔛 ૨૨ ૨૨ ૨૨ ૨૨ 🗐 🐺 💌 😵 🖫
Selectin	ng Work Items and Sending Notifications
Ð	
Options	
No Time	Check During Send

2. Technical Aspects

BSP Application SWN_MESSAGE1 - Generation of E-Mail Content

The BSP application SWN_MESSAGE1 is called during delivery phase for each e-mail/SMS to create the content. It consists of the following components:

Controller	Class	Description
main.do	CL_SWN_MESSAGE_CONTROLLER	The controller class retrieves the message object via cl_swn_transfer. Depending on the notification granularity and delivery type it calls the appropriate view to generate the e-mail content



View	Delivery Type + Granularity	Description		
html_inbox.htm	EMAIL_HTML + One message	HTML e-mail, which contains		
	per category (C)	just general information like		
		'You have new work items'		
html_indiv.htm	EMAIL_HTML + One message	HTML e-mail, which contains		
	per notification (1)	information about one work		
		item		
html_multi.htm	EMAIL_HTML + One message	HTML e-mail, which contains		
	contains multiple notifications	information about a list of work		
	(N)	items		
plain_inbox.htm	EMAIL_PLAIN + One message	Text e-mail, which contains just		
	per category (C)	general information like 'You		
		have new work items'		
plain_indiv.htm	EMAIL_PLAIN + One message	Text e-mail, which contains		
	per notification (1)	information about one work		
		item		
plain_multi.htm	EMAIL_PLAIN + One message	Text e-mail, which contains		
	contains multiple notifications	information about a list of work		
	(N)	items		
sms_inbox.htm	SMS + One message per	SMS, which contains just		
	category (C)	general information like 'You		
		have new work items'		
sms_indiv.htm	SMS + One message per	SMS, which contains		
	notification (1)	information about one work		
		item		

IMPORTANT: SICF Service

Be aware that a BSP application requires an SICF service. The service is created automatically when creating the BSP application. You can find the service assigned to BSP application SWN_MESSAGE1 via transaction SICF -> path: /default_host/sap/bc/bsp/sap/swn_message1.

In transaction SICF you can search for the service via the service name (-> SWN_MESSAGE1). The service must be active so that the BSP application can be called. Otherwise e-mails cannot be created and sent out.

ATTENTION: SWN_MESSAGE1 is replaceable

The BSP application is configured in SWNCONFIG at the message templates. You can work with your own BSP application, e.g. if you want to change the layout of the e-mails. If you want to create your own BSP application it is important that you copy SWN_MESSAGE1 because the names of the view should not be changed. The reason is that the view names are hardcoded in the controller class CL_SWN_MESSAGE_CONTROLLER. You can re-use this controller class within your BSP application. It's not required to copy the controller class. But if CL_SWN_MESSAGE_CONTROLLER is not sufficient for your customer requirements you can copy the controller class in addition. In this case you have more influence on the e-mail content generation. If you use your own BSP application the assigned SICF service must be active.



3. RSWNNOTIFDEL

When a work item disappears from the user's inbox (e.g. work item is completed, cancelled, forwarded to another user, etc.) SWN_SELSEN recognizes that. The corresponding notification is set to status 'Logically Deleted' (L) in SWN_NOTIF. The physical deletion is done by program RSWNNOTIFDEL. This program has to be scheduled periodically, e.g. once a day. For further details please review the <u>online help</u>.

4. General Information – Substitution, Duet & Alloy and the Application Log

(a) Limitations with Substitution: Personal substitution is supported. This means these substitutes are also notified about work items via the Extended Notifications. But position-related substitutions are NOT supported.

(b) RSWNUWLSEL, RSWNSEL: The programs RSWNUWLSEL and RSWNSEL are inherited from SWN_SELSEN. RSWNUWLSEL is exclusively intended for the UWL for the Delta Pull Mechanism. RSWNSEL is used by the Information Worker Solutions (Duet, Alloy) to retrieve work items.
 IMPORTANT: SWN_SELSEN sets an enqueue at the beginning to ensure that only once instance of the program can be processed. The same is done by RSWNUWLSEL and RSWNSEL. Each of the three programs work with the same enqueue. This means SWN_SELSEN, RSWNUWLSEL and RSWNSEL cannot run at the same time.



(c) Application Log: Transaction SLG1 is available and displays the runtime log information for Extended Notification as well as RSWUWFML2.

≧ <u>P</u> rogram <u>E</u> dit <u>G</u>	<u>Soto System H</u> elp						
0	🔹 🖉 🔲 🖉 🚱	- H K 2 2 A A 🗮	2 🛛 🖪				
Analyse Appli	cation Log						
•							
Object V	VF D	1					
Subobject External ID	NOTIFICATIONS						
External ID							
Time Restriction		Construction Const	G 😪 🗅 🖬 🕺 🎕	10 J3 49 1 00 0			
From (Date/Time)	31.08.2011 🗇 00:0			TI 60 60 Del 12			
To (Date/Time)	31.08.2011 🗗 23:5						
		C 🖓 🚱 Technical Information 🚹					
Log Triggered By	(•)m)	Date/Time/User	Nu External ID	Object text	Sub-object text	Transacti	Program
User	•	■ 31.08.2011 04:55:39 UWLTEST △ 31.08.2011 20:53:47 MORRISE	7 266	WF	NOTIFICATIONS NOTIFICATIONS	SE38	
Transaction code		Problem class Other A Problem class medium	12 254				
Program		- a Problem class medium	204				
	Y.						
Log Class	1						
Only very important I	ogs		20.2.4.	©0 ©0 △4 C	262		
Only important logs		Type Message Text 25 due selection schedules found					
OAlso less important I	ogs	 Editing schedule TEST FULL of scen 	ario WORKFLOW				
 All logs 		Time stamp saved for selection schere		WORKFLOW			
		 0 records selected from GET_WI_ALI 0 remappings performed 	L_NEW				
Log Source and Format	ting	0 new notifications saved					
 Format Completely 	a Arana and a second	0 notifications saved 0 notifications deleted (logically)					
OFormat Only Heade		Editing schedule ZDEMO_DELTA of					
Contraction of the second s		Time stamp saved for selection scher 0 records selected from GET_WI_ALI	dule ZDEMO_DELTA of sce	nario WORKFLOW			
OFormat Completely	from Archive	0 records selected from GET_WI_AL 0 records selected from GET_WI_DE					
		0 remappings performed					
		0 new notifications saved 0 notifications saved					
		 0 notifications deleted (logically) 					
		 Editing schedule ZDEMO_FULL of sc Time stamp saved for selection schedule 		IN NORKELOW			
		0 records selected from GET_WI_ALI					
		0 remappings performed 0 new notifications saved					
		0 notifications saved 0 notifications saved					
		0 notifications deleted (logically)					
		 Editing schedule ZED_SELECTION_I Time stamp saved for selection schedule 			RELOW		
		0 records selected from GET_WI_ALI	L_NEW				
		 0 records selected from GET_WI_DE 0 remappings performed 	LTA_NEW				
		0 new notifications saved					
		0 notifications saved 0 notifications delated (lasticelled)					
		0 notifications deleted (logically) Editing schedule ZKS_DELTA1 of sc	enario WORKFLOW				
		Time stamp saved for selection schered	dule ZKS_DELTA1 of scena	rio WORKFLOW			
		0 records selected from GET_WI_ALI 0 records selected from GET WI DE					
		0 remappings performed					
		0 new notifications saved					

(d) Important Transaction Codes

Transaction	Description
SWNCONFIG	Customizing of the Extended Notifications
SWNADMIN	Customizing of the Extended Notifications via
	BSP application
SLG1	Display the application log (Object=WF,
	Subobject=Notifications). Be aware that
	RSWUWFML2 uses the application log with same
	object and subobject.
SICF	Check the services for the BSP applications and
	the service shortcut.
SOST	SAP Office sends requests. Display the e-mails in
	the SAP system which were sent out.

(e) Sources of Information: Please review the Online Help

